2005

William Moore and Mary Moore v. Dan Smith and Carol Smith : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

U.C.A. § 78-2a-3 confers jurisdiction on this Court to decide this appeal.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court err in failing to correctly determine and apply the appropriate version of the relevant statute of limitations?

Standard of Review: Whether the trial court correctly applied the appropriate statute of limitations period and whether the discovery rule applies is a legal question, which is reviewed for correctness, with no deference given to the trial court. See *Estes v. Tibbs*, 1999 UT 52, ¶ 4, 979 P.2d 823; *Tolle v. Fenley*, 2006 UT App 78, ¶ 18, 132 P.3d 63; *Russell Packard Development, Inc., v. Carson*, 2005 UT 14, ¶ 18, 108 P.3d 74.

Issue Preserved at: Defendants' Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment (filed February 26, 2001). [Attached hereto as Addendum "1"].

Defendants' Memorandum in Support of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment (filed May 6, 2003). [Attached hereto as Addendum "2"].

Memorandum in Support of Oral Motion Under Rule 50 for Directed Verdict (filed March 10, 2004). [Attached hereto as Addendum "3"]. Motion and Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Motion under Rule 50 for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the Alternative for Remittitur (filed March 23, 2005). [Attached hereto as Addendum "4"]. Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Motion for Relief from Judgment in Accordance with Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b) (filed April 19, 2005). [Attached hereto as Addendum

“5”].

2. Did the trial court err when it submitted questions of law to the jury for decision in a special verdict?

Standard of Review: The improper submission of a legal question to the jury by a trial court is a question of law that is reviewed under a correction-of-error standard. *Ralston v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co.*, 62 P.2d 1119, 1123 (Utah 1936).

Issue Preserved at: The issue is one of plain error.

3. Did the trial court err in ruling that the discovery rule extended the period for Plaintiffs’ breach of contract and fraudulent nondisclosure claims against Defendants?

Standard of review: Whether the trial court correctly applied the appropriate statute of limitations period and whether the discovery rule applies is a legal question, which is reviewed for correctness, with no deference given to the trial court. See *Estes v. Tibbs*, 1999 UT 52, ¶ 4, 979 P.2d 823; *Tolle v. Fenley*, 2006 UT App 78, ¶ 18, 132 P.3d 63; *Russell Packard Development, Inc., v. Carson*, 2005 UT 14, ¶ 18, 108 P.3d 74.

Issue Preserved at: Defendants’ Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment (filed February 26, 2001). [Attached hereto as Addendum “1”].

Defendants’ Memorandum in Support of Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment (filed May 6, 2003). [Attached hereto as Addendum “2”].

Memorandum in Support of Oral Motion Under Rule 50 for Directed Verdict (filed March 10, 2004). [Attached hereto as Addendum “3”]. Motion and Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Motion under Rule 50 for

Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the Alternative for Remittitur (filed March 23, 2005). [Attached hereto as Addendum “4”].

4. Did the trial court err in failing to dismiss Plaintiffs’ fraudulent nondisclosure claim against Defendants pursuant to various motions made by Defendants throughout the course of litigation?

Standard of review: Whether a party is entitled to summary judgment is a question of law reviewed for correctness. See *Fericks v. Lucy Ann Soffe Trust*, 2004 UT 85, ¶ 10, 100 P.3d 1200. When reviewing a denial of a motion for directed verdict, this Court must “review the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may fairly be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party moved against, and will sustain the denial if reasonable minds could disagree with the ground asserted for directing a verdict. *Smith v. Fairfax Realty, Inc.*, 2003 UT 41, ¶ 12, 82 P.3d 1064, cert. denied, 541 U.S. 960, 124 S.Ct. 1716, 158 L.Ed.2d 401 (2004) (quotations and citation omitted).

Issue Preserved at: Defendants’ Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment (filed February 26, 2001). [Attached hereto as Addendum “1”].

Defendants’ Memorandum in Support of Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment (filed May 6, 2003). [Attached hereto as Addendum “2”].

Memorandum in Support of Oral Motion Under Rule 50 for Directed Verdict (filed March 10, 2004). [Attached hereto as Addendum “3”]. Motion and

Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Motion under Rule 50 for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the Alternative for Remittitur (filed

March 23, 2005). [Attached hereto as Addendum “4”]. Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Motion for Relief from Judgment in Accordance with Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b). [Attached hereto as Addendum “5”].

5. Whether the trial court erred in applying the fraud exception to the merger doctrine?

Standard of Review: Whether attorney fees are recoverable is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness. See *Selvage v. J.J. Johnson & Assocs.*, 910 P.2d 1252, 1257 (Utah Ct.App.1996).

Issue Preserved at: This issue will become relevant if this Court reverses and/or remands this case and if Plaintiffs’ claims are dismissed or otherwise disposed of.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendants appeal the following Orders and the Special Verdict and Judgment entered by Judge Donald J. Eyre, Fourth District Court-Millard, Millard County, State of Utah:

1. the Order partially denying Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment entered on August 16, 2001;
2. the Order partially denying Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment entered on September 29, 2003;
3. the Special Verdict and Judgment entered on March 10, 2005 for the amount of \$30,680.00 against Defendants and in favor of Plaintiffs;
4. the Order denying Defendants’ Rule 50(b) Motion for Judgment Not Withstanding the Verdict entered on July 6, 2005;

5. the Order denying Defendants' Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Judgment entered on July 19, 2005;
6. and the Order awarding attorneys' fees to Plaintiff entered on August 25, 2005.

As more fully set forth herein, Defendants assert that the trial court erred in failing to determine and apply the appropriate statute of limitations to Plaintiffs' claims for breach of contract and fraudulent nondisclosure against Defendants. The trial court further erred by incorrectly applying the "discovery rule" to extend the statute of limitations period for Plaintiffs' claims for breach of contract and fraudulent nondisclosure. The trial court erred by submitting questions of law related to the statute of limitations period to the jury for decision. In addition, the trial court failed to apply governing legal precedent to Plaintiffs' fraudulent nondisclosure claim. Finally, the trial court improperly granted Plaintiffs an award of attorney's fees and costs.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Plaintiffs' home ("Home"), which is the subject matter of the litigation, is located at 155 West 300 South, Fillmore City, Millard County, Utah. [R. 442:13-17].¹
2. Defendants built the Home for their residence in 1993 and lived in the Home prior to selling the Home to Plaintiffs in 1994. [R. 440:32; 442:24].
3. The Home's construction was inspected and approved by the Fillmore City Building Inspector, Jack Peterson ("Peterson"), throughout the course of construction. [R.

1. Citations to the trial transcript will be designated by page number followed by a colon and the line number(s).

371:9].

4. Defendants obtained a Certificate of Occupancy and Zoning Compliance (“Certificate of Occupancy”) on or about January 28, 1994. [See Certificate of Occupancy and Zoning Compliance, attached hereto as Addendum “6”].
5. At the time of final inspection, the ground around the home was so muddy that finish grading was impossible. [R. 375:20 through 375:25].
6. Peterson, who conducted the final inspection, and who signed the Certificate of Occupancy, gave Defendants permission to finish the grading in the spring when the weather had cleared. [R. 378:16 through 379:8].
7. An Earnest Money Sales Agreement (“EMSA”) was executed between Defendants and Plaintiffs on February 15, 1994 for the sale of the Home. [See Earnest Money Sales Agreement, attached hereto as Addendum “7”].
8. The relevant provisions of the EMSA for purposes of this appeal are:

¶1(e) Buyer has made a visual inspection of the property subject to Section 1(c) above and 6 below, accepts in its present physical condition, except: (BLANK)

¶ 6. SELLER’S WARRANTIES. In addition to warranties contained in Section C, the following

¶ B. INSPECTION. Unless otherwise indicated, Buyer agrees that Buyer is purchasing said property upon Buyer's own examination and judgement and not by reason of any representation made by to Buyer by Seller or the Listing or Selling Brokerage as to its condition, size, location, present value, future value, income here from or as to its production. Buyer accepts the property in "as is" condition subject to Seller's warranties as outlined in Section 6. In the event that Buyer desires an additional inspection, said inspection shall be allowed by Seller but arranged for and paid by Buyer.

¶ C. SELLER WARRANTIES. Seller warrants that: (a) Seller has received no claim or notice of any building or zoning violation concerning the property which

has not or which will not be remedied prior to closing; (b) all obligations against the property including taxes, assessments, mortgages, liens or other encumbrances of any nature shall be brought current on or before closing; and (c) the plumbing, heating, air conditioning and ventilating systems, electrical system, and appliances shall be sound or in satisfactory working condition at closing.

9. Plaintiffs walked through the Home on February 11, 1994 before executing the EMSA on February 15, 1994. [R. 87:18 through 100:21].
10. Defendants read the “as is”/no warranties clauses with Plaintiffs at the time the EMSA was executed by both parties. [R.462:15-21].
11. On February 15, 1994 Defendant Dan Smith discussed with Plaintiff William Moore the footings and the grading and told Plaintiff Moore that he should avoid moving dirt so as to avoid exposing the footings and that additional dirt was on the property to complete the grading. [R. 448:2 through 449:22].
12. Plaintiffs closed on the Home on or about May 2, 1994. [R. 104:23-25].
13. Plaintiffs had the opportunity, but decided not to have the Home inspected. [R. 198:12-15].
14. Plaintiffs did not request any additional warranties of any kind. [R. 199:16-18].
15. Almost six years later in April 2000 while Plaintiffs were having gate posts installed on the property, Plaintiffs were informed that the footings were not deep enough. [R. 121:5].
16. Plaintiffs subsequently contacted Jason Bullock of Sunrise Engineering in approximately August 2000 who walked through the house as though he were performing a final inspection and discovered the thirty (30) alleged code violations

identified by the Plaintiffs. [R. 128:10-12; 131:11-17].

17. Jason Bullock admitted that he easily discovered the lack of topsoil and grading and the exposed footings by “basically walking around the house.” [R. 137:19]. Jason Bullock admitted that he did not need to do any digging to see the alleged grading violation because “the top of the frame was exposed.” [R. 138:14].
18. An additional twelve (12) alleged code violations identified by the Plaintiffs were later added by Lloyd Steenblik’s inspection.
19. Plaintiffs filed their original complaint on August 24, 2000, more than six years from the May 2, 1994 closing date.
20. Plaintiff William Moore deceased in 2001 and Plaintiff Mary Moore became his successor in interest.
21. Defendants filed their first Motion for Summary Judgment on February 26, 2001 [see Addendum “1”] in which they argued that: (1) Plaintiffs’ breach of contract claim was barred by the statute of limitations; (2) Plaintiffs’ claim of rescission was barred by the statute of limitations; (3) Plaintiffs’ claim for violation of the Consumer Sales Practices Act was barred by the statute of limitations; (4) Plaintiffs failed to plead fraud and misrepresentation; (5) Punitive damages should be dismissed because all underlying claims are subject to summary judgment.
22. On August 16, 2001, the trial court entered a ruling on Defendants’ first Motion for Summary judgment and held that: (1) Plaintiffs’ claim for negligent misrepresentation in this case was precluded as a matter of law by the merger

doctrine ; (2) That the claims of fraudulent nondisclosure and fraudulent misrepresentation had been pled with sufficient particularity to satisfy Rule 9 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; (3) That there were genuine issues of material fact with respect to claims of fraudulent nondisclosure and fraudulent misrepresentation that precluded summary judgment; (4) Defendants may have had a legal duty to disclose to Plaintiffs any latent and material defects in the home or building code violations, of which they were aware; (5) The discovery rule should be applied to toll the statutes of limitations in situations where its application was not otherwise expressly prohibited by law; (6) The discovery rule does apply to those defects that would be considered latent and that there were issues of fact with respect to when the defects should have reasonably been discovered; (7) Plaintiffs elected rescission rather than monetary damages for breach of contract. [See August 16, 2001 Order, attached hereto as Addendum “8”].

23. Defendants filed their next motion for summary judgment on May 6, 2003 arguing that: (1) Plaintiffs’ claims were barred inasmuch as the Plaintiffs failed to have the home inspected and inasmuch as the applicable statute of limitation ran before the suit was filed; (2) Plaintiffs admitted that the majority of their claims were patent defects and should therefore be dismissed. [See Addendum “2”].
24. On August 29, 2003, the trial court held that: (1) the Defendants were only legally obligated to disclose defects that were not discoverable by reasonable care; (2) that summary judgment was appropriate for all admittedly patent items and that

summary judgment was not appropriate for defects 9, 11, 12, 26, 27, 38, and 39; (3) that there were disputed material facts regarding Plaintiffs' claim for fraudulent misrepresentation; (4) that there were disputed material facts regarding Defendants' statute of limitations defense. Accordingly, the trial court granted summary judgment only as to the dismissal of Plaintiffs' claim of fraudulent nondisclosure as to all defects except 9, 11, 12, 26, 27, 38 and 39. [See August 29, 2003 Order, attached hereto as Addendum "9"].

25. Finally in November 2003, Defendants filed four (4) additional motions for summary judgment as to Plaintiffs' claims for breach of contract; Consumer Sales Practice Act; mutual mistake of fact; and fraudulent misrepresentations.
26. On April 26, 2004, the trial court granted Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment as to Plaintiffs' claims under the Consumer Sales Practice Act and Fraudulent Misrepresentation, but denied the motion as to Plaintiff's breach of contract claim. During the hearing on the motions, Plaintiffs' counsel stipulated to the dismissal of the claim for mutual mistake.
27. In addition, on April 26, 2004, the trial court also denied Plaintiffs' Motion to Reconsider its prior ruling on Plaintiff's Fraudulent Nondisclosure and Negligent Misrepresentation causes of action.
28. At the time of trial the Plaintiffs had dismissed all their claims except their two claims for fraudulent nondisclosure regarding the improper grading and the alleged improper insulation of windows and Plaintiffs' breach of contract claim with

respect to the violation of the building code for grading.

29. Plaintiffs previously elected to proceed on rescission and subsequently changed the remedy they were seeking to seek monetary damages.
30. The case was heard at a three day trial March 7-9, 2005.
31. At the conclusion of trial the jury was asked to respond to special verdict questions. [See Special Verdict, attached hereto as Addendum “10”].
32. The jury found Defendants liable for breach of contract and for fraudulent nondisclosure with respect to the improper grading, but not for the insulation of the windows. The jury awarded \$30,680 in monetary damages. The jury also found the causes of action were not barred by the statute of limitations.
33. During trial on March 9, 2005, Defendants’ counsel made an oral motion for a directed verdict and submitted a memorandum in support of the motion on March 10, 2005. [See Addendum “3”].
34. The trial court entered final judgment against Defendants in the amount of \$30,680 in compensatory damages pursuant to the directed verdict on March 10, 2005. [See Final Judgment, attached hereto as Addendum “11”].
35. On March 23, 2005, Defendants’ counsel file a motion and memorandum for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. [See Addendum “4”].
36. The trial court denied both of Defendants’ Rule 50 motions in an order entered July 6, 2005. [See July 6, 2005 Order, attached hereto as Addendum “12”].
37. Defendants then filed a Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of

Motion for Relief from Judgment in Accordance with Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b) on April 19, 2005 [see Addendum “5”] which was denied by the Court in a July 18, 2005 order. [See July 18, 2005 Order, attached hereto as Addendum “13”].

38. The trial court ultimately awarded Plaintiffs attorney’s fees under section “N” of the EMSA in the amount of \$40,000.00 and costs in the amount of \$10,000.00. [See Order on Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Order Awarding Attorney’s Fees, Expenses and Costs, attached hereto as Addendum “14”].

ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court erred in failing to correctly determine the appropriate version of the relevant statute of limitations.**

The trial court erred by failing to first establish when Plaintiffs knew or should have know of their causes of action against Defendants. Whether a statute of limitations has run on a cause of action and whether the discovery rule applies, are both questions of law. See *Russell Packard Development, Inc., v. Carson*, 2005 UT 14, ¶ 18, 108 P.3d 741 (“The applicability of the statute of limitations and the applicability of the discovery rule are questions of law, which [the appellate court] reviews for correctness.” (citing *Spears v. Warr*, 2002 UT 24, ¶ 32, 44 P.3d 742); *Klinger v. Kightly*, 791 P.2d 868, 869 (Utah 1990) (“Whether the discovery rule applies to a cause of action is, like the statute of limitation, a question of law, not of fact.”))

The applicability of the statute of limitations or the discovery rule to any given cause of action, however, first requires that the fact-finder determine *when* the claimant discovered or should have discovered the facts supporting their alleged cause of action.

See *Sevy v. Security Title Co. of Southern Utah*, 902 P.2d 629, 634 (Utah 1995) (“The issue of when a claimant discovered or should have discovered the facts forming the basis of a cause of action is a question of fact.”)

Accordingly, a trial court’s *legal* determination of the applicability of the statute of limitations and the discovery rule must, by necessity, rely upon the factual determination of “when a claimant discovered or should have discovered the facts forming the basis of a cause of action.” *Id.*

As discussed hereinafter, the trial court’s failure to adhere to the aforementioned tripartite analysis has led the trial court and jury to commit error. The trial court erred by non-discriminately applying the 2004 version of U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5 to Plaintiffs claims. [See Addendum “8”; see Addendum “9”].

Importantly, the trial court’s final Judgment and the Special Verdict are devoid of *any* specific factual finding by the jury concerning the date on which Plaintiffs knew or should have known of their cause of actions for breach of contract or fraudulent nondisclosure as to the grading and windows.

As will be explained, without such a finding, as determined by a trier of fact, the trial court could not properly determine the date on which Plaintiffs’ causes of action “accrued.” Without establishing an “accrual” date, the trial court could not properly determine which version of U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5 to apply (the 2004 version, or one of the three possible earlier versions) to Plaintiffs’ causes of action. As will be demonstrated, application of the *correct* version of U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5 has a determinative impact on

whether Plaintiffs' claims are barred and whether the discovery rule becomes relevant to Plaintiffs' claims.

A. The trial court could not properly determine what version of the statute of limitations applies to Plaintiffs' claims because the trial court failed to instruct the jury to determine when Plaintiffs knew or should have known of their cause of action against Defendants.

The jury in this case should have specifically determined when Plaintiffs knew or should have known of the facts forming the basis for their causes of action before the trial court may make the legal determination concerning what version of U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5 applied.

Several different versions of Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-21.5 existed during the years between the sale of the property to Plaintiffs on May 2, 1994 and the date that Plaintiffs finally filed suit on August 24, 2000; however, only one version of the statute should be applied to Plaintiffs' claims.

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