2005

William More and Mary Moore v. Dan Smith and Carol Smith : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendants have raised several issues on appeal relating to the applicable statute of limitations, the discovery rule, the trial court's Special Verdict and Plaintiff's fraudulent nondisclosure claim. However, the Defendants have failed to preserve two of these issues for appeal and did not marshal the evidence on two other issues. Therefore, Defendants should be precluded from bringing those issues on appeal. Lastly, even if these issues were properly before this Court, Plaintiff argues that the trial court did not commit error.

Plaintiff also raises several issues on appeal. Plaintiff contends that the doctrine of merger should not have precluded her negligent misrepresentation claim that was

dismissed in summary judgment. Plaintiff further asserts that the trial court erred in dismissing 37 of her 42 original defects on her fraudulent nondisclosure claim as well as dismissing 41 of her 42 original defects on her breach of contract claim. Lastly, Plaintiff contends that the trial court erred in not awarding Plaintiff all of her attorney's fees and costs on this matter.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED THE CORRECT VERSION OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

The Defendants contend that the trial court failed to correctly determine the appropriate version of the statute of limitations in this case. Even if the trial court did commit an error the Defendants failed to preserve the issue for appeal, the Defendants invited the error and the error was harmless. The Plaintiff further argues that the trial court correctly applied the appropriate version of the statute of limitations.¹

A. Defendants Failed to Preserve this Issue for Appeal, Invited the Alleged Error and the Alleged Error was Harmless.

"To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must first raise the issue in the trial court, giving that court an opportunity to rule on the issue." *State v. Maguire*, 975 P.2d 476 (Utah App. 1999) (quoting *Badger v. Brooklyn Canal Co.*, 966 P.2d 844, 847 (Utah 1998)). This Court is "precluded from reviewing it without a demonstration by

¹Additionally, Defendants have failed to follow numerous Utah R. App. P. such as Rule 24(a)(8) requiring a Summary of the Argument, Rule 24(a)(7) requiring all facts to have a reference to the record below and Rule 24(a)(9) by wholly failing to cite to the record in their argument. Defendants failure to cite to the record is basis to assume correctness of the trial court's findings and dismiss their claims on appeal. *State v. Tucker*, 675 P.2d 755, 756-757 (Utah 1982).

Defendant of plain error or exceptional circumstances.” *State v. Person*, 2006 UT App 288 (Utah App. 2006). Defendants fail to allege plain error or exceptional circumstances but instead make the inexplicable statement that they have indeed reserved this issue for appeal. *See* Appellate Brief of Defendants, Appellants and Cross-Appellees Dan Smith and Carol Smith pg. 1 (Hereinafter Defendants’ Brief).

Defendants claim that the trial court applied the wrong version of the applicable statute of limitations because it is impossible to know which version to apply without a specific finding by the jury of when Mrs. Moore should have discovered the defect. Defendants cite to five (5) different memorandums claiming that the issue was preserved in each of the memorandums. However, upon a quick review of those memoranda it is readily apparent that Defendants *never* objected to or questioned which version of the statute should be applied and *never* objected to the trial courts method of determining which version applied. At no point was this issue raised below, thus it was not preserved.

Additionally, the Defendants invited any error by proposing the 1999 version of Utah Code Annotated § 78-12-21.5 was applicable. (R. 803, Appellants Addendum 2) and quoted the exact language of the 1999 version of U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5(3)(a-b) in their memorandum. (R. 820, Appellants Addendum 2). The trial court agreed with Defendants’ argument and applied the 1999 version of U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5. (R. 1273-1274, Appellants’ Addendum 9). Furthermore, Defendants again agreed with the trial court in their memorandum on the motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict that the 1999 version of U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5 applied. (R. 2140, Appellants’ Addendum 4). “The doctrine of invited error prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then

complaining of it on appeal.” *Miller v. Martineau & Co., Certified Pub. Accountants*, 983 P.2d 1107, 1116 (Utah App. 1999). As the Defendants themselves have led the trial court down this path it would be inequitable to allow them to now claim the trial court erred.

Furthermore, if there was error in applying the version of the statute of limitations, this error was harmless. Defendants argue “It is readily apparent that the application of either of the 1991 version, the 1997 version, or the 1999 version could result in a very different outcome for Plaintiffs’ claims depending on which version applied.” See Defendants’ Brief pg. 17. Defendants fail to understand that the language in the various versions of the statute would have no effect on the trial courts ruling because the court in large part did not rely upon the language of U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5 as the basis for applying the discovery rule. The Utah Supreme Court explained in *Russell Packard Development, Inc. v. Carson*, 108 P.3d 741 (Utah 2005) an Equitable Discovery Rule (one not written in the statute for fixed Statute of Limitations periods like in U.C.A. 78-12-21.5(3)(a)) can be applied to toll a fixed statute of limitations. Defendants have failed to understand that a Statutory Discovery Rule (one written into the statute like in U.C.A. 78-12-21.5(3)(b)) is not the only means of tolling a statute of limitations. Because the trial court relied upon the theory of an equitable discovery rule, the language in the various statutes would not have changed the “outcome for Plaintiffs”. Therefore, Defendants dialogue on the language of the various versions of the statute of limitations is moot and if there was an error in applying this version of the statute of limitations it was harmless error.

B. The Trial Court Did not Commit Error in Applying the Statute of Limitations.

Defendants assert that the “trial court erred by non-discriminately applying the 2004 version of U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5”. *See* Defendants’ Brief pg. 13. Defendants’ confusion on which version of the statute of limitations was applied is perplexing considering the fact they originally suggested which version to apply! Even more perplexing is how the trial court could apply the 2004 version of the statute of limitations in an order entered on August 21, 2003. (R. 1274).

Defendants cite to *Sevy v. Security Title Co. of Southern Utah*, 902 P.2d 629 (Utah 1995) for the proposition that the trial court was required to first have the jury determine the exact date when Plaintiffs should have discovered the facts forming the cause of actions before the appropriate version of the statute could have been determined. *See* Defendants’ Brief pg. 13. This is not the holding of *Sevy* or any other case that Defendants have cited. In fact, the trial court in *Sevy* never determined an exact date of when plaintiff should have discovered their cause of action but, as in the case at bar, simply ruled that the discovery rule tolled the statute of limitations.

There is no requirement that a specific date must be established as to when it was reasonable to discover the defects. All that is required is for the jury to determine that the Plaintiffs should not have reasonably discovered the defects sooner. Even though there was no specific finding of fact in the Special Verdict (R 2112), the jury obviously concluded that the Moores should not have reasonably discovered the footings defects before April of 2000. At trial Mrs. Moore presented evidence that she did not discover

the footings defect until April 2000 when she was having a fence installed on her property. (R. 2424 Jury Trial Transcript 0120-0121). This defect was discovered because it was necessary for the fence installers to dig a posthole next to the house for one of the fence posts and the fence installers noticed the defect in the footings when they were exposed. (R. 2424 Jury Trial Transcript 0121-0123). Plaintiff argued that this was the earliest reasonable date that she should have discovered the defects. (R. 2424 Jury Trial Transcript 0591-0592). However, Defendants argued that Plaintiff should have reasonably discovered the defects sooner. (R. 2424 Jury Trial Transcript 0587-0589). Obviously the jury concluded that April of 2000 was the earliest date Mrs. Moore should have reasonably discovered the defects.²

Defendants further assert that there should have been findings of fact supporting the trial court's conclusions of law. *See* Defendants' Brief pg. 20. Defendants' assertion misinterprets the law. U.R.C.P. Rule 52(a) clearly states that the requirement for Findings of Fact applies only to "actions tried upon the facts without a jury or an advisory jury". Furthermore, the two cases cited by Defendants were cases where the judge was the finder of fact and not a jury. Defendants' argument fails because no specific findings of fact are required when a case is tried by jury.

Accordingly, the statute of limitations began to run in April of 2000 and the trial court did not err in applying the 1999 version of U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN APPLYING THE DISCOVERY RULE

² *See* page 22 below for further explanation.

Defendants claim that the trial court inexplicably denied Defendants' various motions regarding their statute of limitations defense because U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5(3)(a) does not state a written discovery rule in the statute. Apparently, Defendants have failed to grasp the difference in a statutory discovery rule and an equitable discovery rule. Defendants' entire argument is based on the fact that no discovery rule is written or provided in the language of the statute for the breach of contract claim. Defendants have not realized that a statute of limitations can be tolled by the application of the equitable discovery rule even when there is no written discovery rule in the applicable statute of limitations. The Utah Supreme Court recently stated,

We have limited the circumstances in which an equitable discovery rule may operate to toll an otherwise fixed statute of limitations period to the following two situations: (1) 'where a plaintiff does not become aware of the cause of action because of the defendant's concealment or misleading conduct,' and (2) 'where the case presents exceptional circumstances and the application of the general rule would be irrational or unjust, regardless of any showing that the defendant has prevented the discovery of the cause of action'.

Russell Packard Development, Inc. v. Carson, 108 P.3d 741, 747 (Utah 2005); citations omitted.

Clearly Plaintiff meets the first situation. The jury found that Defendants fraudulently concealed the defect in the footings. (R. 212-213). Defendants' failure to disclose and remedy the footings defect was the act that gave rise to Plaintiff's claims. Because of Defendants concealment of this information, Plaintiff was not aware of any defects in the home until April of 2000, two months after the six (6) year statute of limitations had run. (R. 2424 Jury Trial Transcript 0120-0121). This date was the earliest Plaintiff should have reasonably discovered the defect. (R. 2424 Jury Trial

Transcript 0591-0592). Therefore, the trial court appropriately applied the equitable discovery rule based upon the Defendants concealment of their actions and the fact that Plaintiffs actions were reasonable in not discovering her claims sooner.

Plaintiff also meets the second situation of exceptional circumstances. (R. 056-061). To determine if exceptional circumstances exist the court uses a balancing test that “weighs the hardship imposed on the claimant by the application of the statute of limitations against any prejudice to the defendant resulting from the passage of time.” *Sevy v. Security Title Co. of Southern Utah*, 902 P.2d 629, 636 (Utah 1995). Surely the hardship imposed on the Plaintiff in rigidly applying the statute of limitations in this case clearly outweighs any prejudice that the Defendants possibly could suffer. Mrs. Moore’s breach of contract claim would be completely barred if the discovery rule was not allowed to toll the statute of limitations. Such a result would be patently unfair and inequitable especially since the jury found that the Defendants fraudulently concealed the information that gave rise to Mrs. Moore’s claims. (R. 212-213). Furthermore, Plaintiff brought her suit in August of 2000; merely a few months after the six (6) year statute of limitations had run. (R. 9). The Defendants have never argued that any evidence had been lost through the passage of time and have not shown that they would be prejudiced in any way except that they might now be accountable for their actions.

Not only does the equitable discovery rule toll the statute of limitations, but U.C.A. § 78-12-21.5(5) states that the statute of limitations does not apply to a provider that “fraudulently concealed his act, error, omission, or breach of duty”... or for a “willful or intentional act, error, omission, or breach of duty”. Therefore, this

statute of limitations would not even apply in this case because the jury found that the Defendants fraudulently concealed their activities. *See* Interagatory 2(a) of the Special Verdict (Addendum No. 10 of Defendants Brief).

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT SUBMIT QUESTIONS OF LAW TO JURY

Defendants contend that the trial court committed reversible err when it submitted a complicated question of law to the jury in the Special Verdict asking the jury to determine whether each of Plaintiff's claims were barred by the statute of limitations. *See* Defendants' Brief pg. 21-24. Defendants have failed to preserve this issue for appeal and furthermore, a detailed review of the record clearly shows that the jury was not asked to determine a question of law.

A. Defendants Failed to Preserve this Issue for Appeal.

As stated above, a party must first raise an issue in the trial court in order to preserve that issue on appeal. The Defendants never once raised any objections regarding the wording of the Special Verdict; in-fact the Defendants reviewed the proposed Special Verdict in chambers with the trial judge (R. 2424 Jury Trial Transcript 0549) and had no objections whatsoever to the wording of the Special Verdict. (R. 2424 Jury Trial Transcript 0552-0553). Defendants could have opposed the trial court's Special Verdict and drafted a proposed Special Verdict with the language they felt was appropriate. Defendants, however, failed to do this and agreed that the trial court's Special Verdict was proper. Defendants admit that this issue was not preserved on appeal but claim that the trial court plainly erred in submitting questions of law to the jury. *See* Defendants'

Brief pg. 2. The Utah Supreme Court has held that when a party considers the issue, consciously decides to not object and affirmatively leads the trial court to believe that there was nothing wrong with the instruction, then that party will be estopped from claiming the manifest error [plain error] exception. *State of Utah v. Medina*, 738 P.2d 1021, 1023 (Utah 1987). This Court further stated that “under the doctrine of invited error, we have declined to engage in even plain error review when ‘counsel, either by statement or act, affirmatively represented to the [trial] court that he or she had no objection to the [proceedings].’” *State v. Person*, 2006 UT App 288 (Utah App. 2006) (quoting *State v. Winfield*, 128 P.3d 1171 (Utah 2006)). Because Defendants failed to object below, they should not be allowed to raise this issue on appeal.

Even if Defendants are not estopped from claiming the plain error exception, Defendants fail to meet the standard of plain error. “To demonstrate plain error, a defendant must establish that ‘(i) an error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful, i.e., absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome for the appellant.’” *Berkshires, L.L.C. v. Sykes*, 127 P.3d 1243, 1250-1251 (Utah App. 2005) (quoting *State v. Holgate*, 10 P.3d 346 (Utah 2000)). Defendants have not even attempted to show how the alleged error should have been obvious to the trial court or how there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome. Further, Defendants have failed to follow Utah R. App. P. Rule 24(a)(9) by “including the grounds for reviewing any issue not preserved in the trial court” in their argument. Therefore, this issue should not be reviewed by this Court.

B. The Jury was not Asked to Determine Legal Questions.

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